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MR. ,TUSTICE MORLAND: Mr. Shields, I think it is right that
r should mention this at this st.age so that everybody knows
the position including you, members of the jury. On Friday
I have to deal- with a very substantial matter which may take
most of Friday. rf of course a wi-tness is part-heard from
Thursday the witness's evidence will be compreted on Friday.
so you may almost certainly have a short day on Friday so far
as you are concerned. I am sorry about that but it is an
urgent matter t.hat has to be dealt. with.

MR. SHIELDS: We never mind a day off , my Lord..

MR. JUSTICE MORLAND: Right. Yes, Mr. Shields.

MR. SHIELDS: Members of the jury, at the end of yesterday,s
proceedj-ngs we had reached the article of which complaint is
made and if you recalI f had read to you at t.ab 4 t.he press
release which precedes that article. You might. recall that
was 'lJournalist exposes the truth behind Bosnia 'death-camp,
photograph" and the purpose of that press release, of course,
was to alert the media and other what might be regarded as
people who would like to read such a st.ory about the
forthcoming article. You will recaIl that a letter was
written which is at tab 5 seeking to suggest that the article
should not be published but nonetheless they chose to go ahead
and they chose to publish the art.icle. I then drew your
attention to the article which is at tab G and the front is
headed nEXCLUSIVE The picture that FOOLED the Wor1d,'.

Members of the jury, you will see that is quite a
long article. What I am going to do is suggest you read it
to yourselves because one of the tasks you have to do in this
case is to decide two things: who does that article refer to?
- and I will come back in a minute to that - and what does it
actually mean? You are aski-ng yourselves what lt would have
meanL to an ordj-nary sensible person readi-ng it at the time.
Now rather than my reading it out to you, because I may read
it too guickly and not gi-ve you a chance to take it in
properly, I am going to leave it to you to read t.hat to
yourselves and afterwards I will make a few comments about
it. But do not feel under any pressure. It is quite a long
article and it may t,ake f ive or ten minutes.

MR. wsrrcE MORT,AND: Yes. Mr. shields, d.o you think it would be
easier for the jury - it is a matter for you and for them -
for them to read it in their retirement room?

MR. SHIELDS: I think it wou1d, if your Lordship is happy with
that.

MR. JUSTICE MORLAND: Yes. Would it not be more comfortable and'
more relaxing, and you would take it in better and feel under
no pressure if you read it in your room?

MR- SHIELDS: What I was going t,o do after that, fty Lord, to help
everyone, is with the jury I was going to do a paragraph
number, paragraph by paragraph.



1 MR. ,JUSTfCE MORLAND: yes.
2
3 MR- SHIELDS: Aft.er that then we can refer to a paragraph number4 rather than trying to find it..
5
6 MR. ,IUSTICE MORLAND: Yes, good" I would have thought the best7 thing would be if you would like to retire to your room, andB f think probably ten minutes.
9

10 MR. SHIELDS: It is quit.e a 1ot.
11
a2 MR. irusrrcE MORLAND: rt is rea11y a very long article.
13
L4 MR. SHIELDS: Fifteen minutes, my Lord?
15
a6 MR- JUSTICE MORLAND: Members of the jury, would you like to givea7 a message to the jury usher, ,Jean, here and slrt of uang on18 the door-when you are ready to come back into court.. r think19 that would be the convenient way rather than any time 1imit,20 because it. is rea11y quite a long article.2t
22 MR. sHrEIrDs: My Lord, at the next tab it might be sensible,23 r think, to maybe flag this tab 2, in paragiaph e there is24 a thing ca11ed "Fj-rst Casualty?", whic-h is-thl editorial of25 which- we complain. ,fust. over the page from the end. of the26 article, one turns over to something-headed ,'First Casualty?'r
27
28 MR. ,fUSTICE MORLAND: yes.
29
30 MR- SHIELDS: It is the next tab almost but not number 7, it has31 got t.he number 2 in it.
32
33 MR. ifUSTfCE MORLAND: .Just before 7 there is a thing that }ooks34 like that , ', First Casualty? "
35
35 MR. SHTELDS: what might be heIpful, my Lord, is if the jury took37 with t.hem a "opy 5f the article in its oiigi-nat form so that3B they can see there, _if r can just hold it ip, the front page
i39 "EXCLUSIVE, and in fact 'rFirst. Casualty?" .L*"r before t-he40 article in the actual magazine althougi. you have got it the4l other way round. 9o 1f you want to read-',First CIsualty?,,42 first-, because probably I reader may have read that first,43 and then the article. r will hand L.hat up, if r may.----'
44
45 MR. ,]USTICE MORLAND: yes.
46
47 MR. SHIELDS: C1, ffiy Lord?
48
49 MR. JUsrrcE MORLAND: yes, that ought to formally be made an50 exhibit. cr-r fes. Members of the jury, if you would like to5l- go out to your room and do not feel ,rri.. "rr| pr"=sure.
52
s3 (fn the absence of the .iury)
54
55 MR. ,fUSTICE MORLANDT yr. Shie1ds, I did not suggest it now but55 r think- probably when they come back it wouid assist if they57 had highlighters, would iE not?
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MR. SHIELDS: Yes, my Lord.

MR. JUSTICE MORLAND: Certainly if you are going to refer to
particular paragraphs and perhaps particular sentences.
It obviously would not be appropriate on their first reading.

MR. SHIELDS: No. that is why I wanted them to read it.

MR. JUSTICE MORLAND: Read it like that, y€s, and that is why
I did not suggest it then. But if arrangements could be
made for them to have highlighters so that if they wish to
underline anything they can. Right. We will adjourn until
they are ready.

(Adiourned for a short time)

11.15 a.m-

MR. SHIELDS: Members of the jury, we say that. this article and
the editorial which you have just read defame that is, t.ake
away t.he reputation of and gravely defame ITN, Penny
Marshall and Ian Wi1liams. We say it attacks their integrity
and honesty and accuses them of falsification and fabricat.ion.
We say that anyone who read that article at about that tj-me
would have seen iL as an allegation of conspiracy effect.ively
by them to distort the truth to fit in with their supposedly
anti-serbian and pro-Muslim views.

I said before you retired to read the article that.
I was going to suggest that together we mark up a number of
paragraphs, because it would save a lot of time in the course
of the trial when witnesses refer to particular paragraphs.
So if you have the article, 'rThe Picture that Fooled the
World'r, if everyone has that, I have done this as t.he firstparasrapl;"""",1::.:'.:,.::::::'ll' 

.n"". pases ,,

So if everyone could mark that down as para.1. Then
below that, 'rFor many" is para.2. The next paragraph

MR. ,JUSTICE MORLAND: Not too quickly, Mr. Shields.

MR. SHIELDS: I am sorry, my. Lord. Paragraph 3 begins: 'tThe fact
is that"; para. 4 begins: "The barbed wire". Turning over the
page, which has no.5 at the bottom, para.5 begins: I'Whatever
the British news team's intentions'f .

MR. ,IUSTICE MORLAND: My second page I do not know if the jury
are the same -- t,hat is the first page, that is the second
page -- then the third page I have has: "The Proof" and
"Belsen" on it. Is that right?

MR. SHIELDS: That is right.. Paragraph 5 begins: rrWhatever the
eritish news team's intentions.rr Then I go down to para.G,
which begins: rrPenny Marshall". Paragraph ? begins: rrlt was
through my ro1e". Paragraph B is: rtOne nightrr. Paragraph 9

&co
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should begin: "My suspicionsr. Then I drop down to para.10:t'J decided to go back to Bosnia." Then or-er the pag!, r startwith: 'rrhe British news team' s trip, , and. that ir'pJi" - rr.Paragraph L2 i9_9]igirtly indented and begins: "whei tvtarsharl,wilriams and villiamy arrived.". earagralh 13 b";i;='; *As theend of t.heir trip approached,,. earagi"p-t r+ r.gi""l ilThepictures they shot',. paragraph 15 b6gi-ns: ',r have lookedthrough the rest of the teim's film fiom Trnopolje',.
Paragraph 16 begins: "The campr' . paragraph r-7 blgins: ,,To
f iIm" - over t.he _page, para. 18 : ,,when fr"..h"11, . "eaiagraph
1,9: "The unused footage". paragraph 20: ,on her return,'Paragraph 2l: 'f 

yet an, important element". paragraph 22 shouldbegin: "Another unpublished sequencerr. earagrafrr z: begins:
"When f visited Trnopolje".

Then over the pager pdra.24 begins: "r met pero
curguz'r. paragraph 25: ,rwhen r showed the picture oi rikred
1-1-]"]'- Paragraph 2G begins: ',Misa Radulovi;;. --p"."g."ph 

27:"without doubt most of ihe refugees in Trnopolje *.iEundernourj-shed" . paragraph 2g -. r'The colreclioi. cent,re,, .Paragraph 29: "For all that". paragraph 30: *padd.y Ashd.own,,.Paragraph 3r-: "rn the eyes of the worlh,'. paragr"ih sz, ,Ed
vu11iamy". Paragraph 33: 'rHoweverrr . paragraph-34-: ,,The
tonetr. Paragraph 35: r'penny Marsharl,r. earalraph 3G: ,,This
was true'r. Paragraph 37: ,rA year after,. eaiagiaph 3B: .rn aGerman terevision programmefr. on the last page; p-ara.39: ,,The
notion'r. Paragraph 40: ',when. the rrN pictuiei',. paragraph:
47": "omarska caml>r'. -paragraph 42: ,'Roused by the pj_ctures,,.Paragraph 43: "The pictures of Fikred A1ic". ear"'jiiph 44:
llrfrg. story" - paragraph 45 : "By t.he end." . paragr-pr, +e , ',Ed.Vu1liamy".

Then 1f yo, would just like to number the next pa9e,with the headline: 'rFirst -asualty?", t.he first p"i"gr"ph is:"what is the responsibiliLy',i 2 i;, ;,Top correspond.ent'r; 3:rr do not believer'; 4: 'Hmm'; 5: urf thly are not verycareful"; 6: "If every picture,'.
Members of the jury,, 

":- I 
just said to you, we saythis defames rrN, penny Maishall aid tan wilriairs and itaccuses them of setting ou! to distort the truth, imposing

!h9ir pre-held views. we say there are =.rio.r=- "ri"-g"tions offalsification and in fact faLrication. can r just show youtwo- pa-ragraphs which we .say make good that cas6a rf you couldgo back again to t.he art'ic1e r will not take you tirroughevery paragraph--- but just to remind you of how'it starts.First _of all, 9f course, the picture. 'ih".,: 
'rrhe picture thatFooled t,he worl-dr. Thar is rhe headline which ;;J;-iu.att.ention. That in bold rype is reflecri"g-ih"-irrlgitiorr,,that fooled the world". ln other words, peopre havE beenconned. We then go down:

-"Th1s -image of an emaciated Musrim caged behind serbbarbed wire, firmed by a British rr"r""i""*, became aworldwide symbol of the war in Bosnia. But thepicture is not quite what it seems - ,'
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1 Then we go down to the first paragraph:

"The picture reproduced on these pages is of Fikret.
AIic, a Bosnian Muslim, emaciated and stripped to the
waist, apparent.ly imprisoned 'r

7 Either he is or he is not.

" ..... apparently imprisoned behind a barbed
wire fence in a Bosnian Serb camp at
Trnopolje. It was taken from a videotape shot
on 5 August L992 by an award-winning British
television team, 1ed by Penny Marshall (ITN)
with her cameraman Jeremy Irvin, accompanied
by Ian Williams and the reporter Ed
Vulliamy from the Guardian newspaper.

"For many, this picture has become a synilcol of the
horrors of t.he Bosnian war - 'Belsen ,92, as one
British ne\^rspaper headline captioned the photograph

But the image is misleading.'r

30 implicit in that: they are not imprisoned and they are not
3l- behind the barbed wire fence.
32
33
34
35
35 Note those words

23 There we are: "is misleading".

"The fact is Lhat Fikret Alic and his fellow Bosnian
Muslims were noL imprisoned behind a barbed wire
fence. "

Let us pause there. There are two allegations

"There was no barbed wire fence surrounding Trnopolje
camp. It was not a prison I

"It was not a prison and certainly not a
'concentration camp' rr

rr ..... but a collection centre for refugees,
many of whom went there seeking safety aid
could leave again if they wish6d

"The barbed wire in the picture is not around the
Bosnian Muslims; it is around the cameraman and thejorrrnalists. It. formed part. of a broken-down barbed
wire fence encircling a small compound that was next
t.o Trnopolje camp. The British news tearn filmed from
inside this compound.'r

They are a crucial four paragraphs, we sdy, because

4L This is what their case is and in the article
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51-
52
53
54
55 they set the theme for the article. There is Lhe allegation:
55 he is not. in prison, he is not behind the barbed wire fence;
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it. is a refugee camp, it is the journalists who are encaged.
Carrying on:

"The British news Leam filmed from inside this
compound, shooting pictures of the refugees
and the camp through the compound fence. In
the eyes of many who saw them, the resulting
pictures left the false impression that the
Bosnian Muslims were caged behind barbed
wire. tt

Then going on to
altogether and you have
paragraphs which I wish
then go to para.5:

para.5 of course, you can read it
read it; f am just picking out some
to draw to your attention if you

"Penny Marshall, Ian Williams and Ed Villiamy have
never cal1ed Trnopolje a concentration camp. They
have criticised the way that others tried to use their
reports and pictures as 'proof' of a Nazi-sty1e
Holocaust in Bosnia. Yet over the past four and a
half years, none of them has told the ful1 story about
that barbed wire fence which made such an impact on
world opinion. "

If it is implied you have not tol-d the fuII story,
that. means you have been hiding something and you can only
hide something, members of the jury, if you know the true
posit.ion. ft follows as night follows day. So the plain
implication so far, we sdy, when you read this article, is
that they knew fu11 wel-1 where they were filming from, they
knew fu1I well that Fikret Alic was not in prison, they knew
he was not behind barbed wire and it was not anythi-ng but a
refug,ee camp. We then turn over the page and we come to
para.11 :

"The eritish news team's trip to Bosnia in the summer
of 1-992 took place against a background of mounting
hysteria, ds t.he first. reports claimJ-ng that the
Bosnian Serbs were running brutal internment camps
were published in the West. On J-9 .Iuly L992, the
Amerj-can journalist, Roy Gutman wrote in Newsday about
the camp at Manjaca, and Andre Kaiser's pictures of
prisoners with shaven heads at Manjaca were shown
around the worId. On 29 July in the Guardian, Maggie
O'Kane quoted eye-witnesses who clairned that Muslims
had been crammed inEo cattle cars and shipped off from
Trnopolje station. On 2 August Roy Gutman published
another article in which he called the Bosnian Serb
camp at Omarska a 'deat.h camp'. Gutman's and O'Kane's
articles drew heavily on hearsay and unconfirmed
elaims. Nevertheless they caused an inLernational
sensation.
ilWhen Marshall, Williams and Vulliamy arrived
in Bosnia at the end of ,Iuly L992, they were

F NI'IO{ERY & CO
SEORIEAND I{RITBRS
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under intense pressure to get the story of the
camps. tt

Pausing there, |ou might ask yourself: "Who is putting them
under intense pressure?"

"Roy Gutman's article about the 'death camp' Omarska,
published while the British team were in Bosnia, had
further raised expectations in the London editorial
offices. "

Who is in the London editorial offices? It is ITN. That is
the London editorial offices.

'tAfter her return Penny Marshall told how she and
Wj-1Iiams had received orders from t.he managing editors
of ITN and Channel 4 to do nothing else before they
had the camps story in the bag: I'

Pausing there, in ot.her words, they were under orders
when they went out there to bring back something which would
confirm what they wanted to find.

rUThey had set Ian Williams and myself loose with an
open-ended brief t.o find and visit the detention
camps, and with orders to file nothing until we had
come up with the story' .rr

'rCome up with the sLoryrt, in the context of the
preceding words, plainly implies they had been given a brief,
in other words, they had to set out to find these camps and
find camps which confirmed the worst fears. In other words,
they set out. with prejudice, with a bias. Paragraph 13:

"As the end of their trip approached, however,
t.he British news team had been unable t.o find
the camps story they were after. Their final
stop was to be the refugee camp at Trnopolje,
nexL to the vl11age of Kozarac which had been
overrun by Bosnian Serb units a few months
earlier in May L992. This was to be their
last chance t.o get the story which their
editors wanted. I'

"The story which their editors wanted..'r In other words, they
were to go out, get t,his particular story and come back with
it, irrespective of what they found.

"The pict.ures they shot at Trnopolje camp on 5 August
were edited in Budapest the next d"y, then sent to
I-,ondon and broadcast t.he same night. The broadcast
centred on one of the journalists talking to Fikret
AIic and the group of Bosnian Muslims through the
barbed wire. These were the pictures which were
widely i-nterpret.ed as evidence that the Muslims were
penned behind a barbed wire fence, and which the
int.ernational media seized upon to make a symbo)-ic
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Iink to the Nazi camps.
get them?

But how did the eritish team

"I have looked t.hrough the rest of the team's film
from Trnopolje, aL the pictures which were not
broadcast. They reveal a lot more about the story.',

In ot.her words, what they are revealing is what was
never Lold and what was hidden. Then going over the page to
para.20:

"On her reLurn, Penny Marshall wrote in the Sunday
Times that ',Jeremy lrvin, our cameraman, knew he had
come away with powerful imagines from Prijedorm, but
only when we screened t^hem in our Budapest editing
suite did we begin to sense their impact.' Ed
Villiamy summarised this impact in his book, Seasons
in HelL: 'With his rib-cage behind the barbed wire of
Trnopolje, Fikret Alic had become the symbolic figiure
of the war, on every magazine cover and television
screen in the world.; Mike Jeremy, foreign editor of
ITN, Iater called the picture 'one of the key images
of the war in former Yugoslavia'.

"Yet an important element of that 'key image' had been
produced by camera angles and editing. "

"Camera angles and edit.ing".

"The other pictures, whi-ch were not broadcast, show
clearly that the large area on which the refugiees were
standing was not fenced-in with barbed wire. "

So there is the sting, rea11y, j-s it. not?

I'Yet an important element. of t.he 'key image' had been
produced by camera angles and editing. "

In other words, it was a fabricated image, not a true
image at all. It did not reflect what was going on at that
camp. Now if we could just go down to para.23:

"When I visited Trnopolje 1ast, December
I asked local people about the camp and the barbed
wi-re. Dragan Baltic, L7, wenL to school in Trnopolje
until the spring of L992. He is certain that, apart
from the one around the small compound, ,there has
been no other barbed wire fence'. Hls 19 year-o1d
sister Dragana now works in a refugee centre in the
school. Dragana confirms her brother,s accounL.rl

Then I drop down Lo para.24:

rrI met Pero Curguz in his office in Prijedor.
He manages the regional Red Cross, and was
stationed at Trnopolje during the operation of
the refugee centre. He was interviewed by the
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British journalists in August. 1992. He says
he told them t.hat the people had come to t.he
camp of their own free will for protection. "

We are going to look at that. Iater, when we view the
rushes, but do you remember those scenes? Do you remember the
patrolling guards and the notion that those people were there
for their protection?

"He t.ol-d me that, during the entire t.ime of the
operation of the camp, r1o fence had been erect.ed. On
the contrary: when the other camps In Keraterm and
Omarska were closed, and Trnopolje became overcrowded
with up to 7500 people, the refugees had pu11ed down
fences and taken all other available materials to
build shelters. Curgrrs stressed that t.hj-s was no
internment or prisoner camp; it was a collecting camp
for exiled Muslims. Everybody I spoke to confirmed
t.hat the refugees could leave the camp area at almost
any Lime. "

Then we drop to the bottom:

'tMj-sa Radulovic, 68, was a teacher in Kozarac and
Trnopolje. Now he walks with a stick and is nearly
b1ind, But like all other men considered able-bodied,
he was enlj-sted in the army during t.he war and
stationed as a camp guard in Trnopolje for three days.
@We protected the Muslims from Serbian extremists who
wanted to take revenge', he said. 'The people could
leave t.he camp without papers, but thi-s was dangerous.
A barbed wire fence existed only at this corner around
the barn, t.his 1it.tle shop for rural products and the
electricity st.ation. "'

Then over the page:

I'Wit.hout doubt most of the refugees in Trnopolje were
undernourished. Civilians were harassed in the camp,
and there were reports of some rapes and murders. Yet
the irony is that, if thj-s collection centre for
refugees had not existed under the supervision of
Bosnian Serb soldiers, a far greater number of Muslim
civilians might have lost Lheir lives. "

Then going over to para.35 opposite:

'rA year after the ITN pictures were first broadcast,
Penny Marshall reacted to the suggest.ion that her
report might have been sensationalist z 'I bent over
backwards. I showed guards - Bosnian Serb guards
feeding the prisoners. I showed a sma1l Muslim child
who had come of his own volition. I didn't call them
death camps. I was incredibly careful, but again and
again we see that i-mage being used.' Despite her plea
of objectivity, however, she did not explain how 'that.

F NONNBRI & CO
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image' of Fikret Alic behind barbed wire had been
produced by her team. t'

Note the words 'tproduced by her team". fn other
words, created by them. You have read the article, members of
the jury. It is going t.o be for you and not for me to decide
at the end of the trial what to believe. You have already
heard our submissions as t.o what it means. But those passages
I have highlighted to you we say could have left. the reader
under no doubt. as to what was being a1Ieged. What was being
alleged is that in accordance with their instructions in
effect. from L,ondon, t.hey set ouL to find damaging images of
the war, they had reached Trnopolje having found no such
i-mages and this was t.heir last chance and they took that
chance by essentially fabricating, distorting, deliberat.ely
altering this image in a way which would cause the maximum
effect.

You can see when you read the article how the author
puts it, the cont.ext in which he puts it. He puts it in the
context of this being as it were a harmless, safe refuge for
people. In other words, anyone having read that art.icle would
conclude that Mr. Fikret Alic could walk around behind that
barbed wire and he was there through choice, he and the other
people there. When we see it again, I ask you Lo keep the one
abiding image of people, how t.hey sLood behind that wire, how,
for example, people would hold the fence, but also the
presence throughout. of patrolli-ng armed guards. It is very
curious to have pat.rolling armed guards when in fact you are
free to go as you want.

Now, members of the jury, you might. agree with me that
these are very great charges. It is right, ds you also know,
that they have never been withdrawn by the defendants and that
is the reason we are here. In fact, the very reverse. What
was their position, BS you will hear during the course of this
triaI. Firstly and Lhis j-s something which is very
imporEant they say this. They say that no-one readi-ng
either the press release or the article or t.he covering
editorial would have understood them to refer to ITN. f have
not touched on iE, yet, but it is only righL you should also
know what Ehe editorial does say and we will have to go baek
together and just briefly look at that now.

"First Casualty?

'tWhat j-s the responsibility of a war reporter? Post-
Bosnia, the fashionable view is that journalists
cannot be neutral, but have a duty to side with the
angels.

"Top correspondent Martin Be11, who has reported for
the BBC on conflicts from Vietnam in the sixtips Lo
the former Yugoslavia in t,he nineties, is now leading
a campaign against what he cal1s the 'by-stander's
journalism' of traditional war reporting.

10
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It ' r do not believe we should stand neutrall_y between
good and evil', Belr told the prest.igious News world
'96 conference in Berlin in November. ,My answer iswhat r call the journarism of attachment., journalism
which cares as well as knows.,
rrHmmm Once journalist.s see fit to appoint
themselves as the judge of who is ,good, and
who is 'evil-' in a conflict such as Bosnia,
you know you are in trouble. The role of
objective reporter of fact sits uneasily with
that of moral crusader. ,'

You might think you ought to underline that passage,
because that is real]y saying that you cannot be objectiv6 ifyou are going to be a crusader.

"If you are not very careful, journalists who have
some kind of emotional 'attachment' to one side can
end up seeing what they want to see, rather than whatis re411y there. when truth is deemed to be in the
eye of the beholder, the ]ine between reportage and
propaganda can get stretched thinner than a stri_ng of
barbed wire.

''If every picture teI1s a story, then it is surelypart. of a war reporter,s job to ensure that story istrue- Here at LM we see nothing wrong with takingsides. We tend to be something of a partisan
publicat.ion ourselves. Taking sides, however, cannot
be an excuse for taking liberties with the facts. "

11.45

There agai-n, it is a reinforcement of the message of thearticle, is it not? The allegation t.hat. they hive taken sides
and therefore in effect they have taken libeities with thefacts. As r said, nothing in that press release, nothing in
t.hat articre and indeed nothing in that editoriar has ever
been withdrawn by the defendants. rndeed they seek to supportit.. what they say firstly is this: when it comes to rrN Lheysay that no-one who read the press rerease, no-one who readthe article and no-one who read that editorial would have ever
understood the allegatio.ns which they make to refer to rrN.rt. is very import.ant that. we grasp this now because their caseis different as between rrN and penny Marshall and ranwi11iams. You might think that is somewhat of a strange
stance to adopt. Let me tell you why by inviting you Eo lookguickly at the press release again wtrictr is in titr-a. you
will see there in the third paragraph:

"The picture of Fikret Alic was taken from videotape
shot.at rrnopglje on 5 August tgg2 by an award-winiring
British television team 1ed by penny Marshall(rrN) . . . u

11
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So one immediately knows who she is working for in the context
of a press release which was suggesting there has been
fabrication and the broadcast of that fabrication. But. even
more significantly, when you come to the article which
develops the theme, w€ invite you to look at paras.l-2, 13 and
14 which I read out. to you just now:

"When Marshall, Williams and Vulliamy arrived in
Bosnia at the end of 'JuIy r.992, they were under
intense pressure to get the story of the camps. . .'t

Remember f said to you that the intense pressure had only come
from outside; therefore it had to be coming from their
employers.

nRoy Gutman's article about the 'deat.h camp' Omarska,
published while the British team were in Bosnia, had
further raised expectations in the London editorial
offices. "

that is obviously a reference Lo those who sent them out their
and who employed them.

"After her return Penny Marshall t.old how she and
wil1iams had received orders from the managing editors
of ITN and Channel 4 to do nothing else before they
had the camps story i-n the bag. . . "

That is plainly a reference, we sdy, t.o ITN because they are
the people giving the orders. You know the nature of the
orders; you have got to have it in the bag.

"They had set Ian Williams and myself loose wit.h an
open-ended brief to find and visit the detention
camps, and with orders to file nothing until- we had
come up with the story.

As the end of their trip approached, however, the
British news team had been unable to find the camps
story they were after. Their final stop was to the
refugee camp at Trnopolje, next to the village of
Kozarac which had been overrun by Bosnian Serb units a
few months earlier in May 1992. This was to be their
last chance to get the story which their editors
wanted. "

- in other words, Lhe people back home.

"The pictures they shot at Trnopolje camp on 5 August
were edited in Budapest the next day, then sent to
London and broadcast the same night.'r

We say t.hose t,hree paragraphs prove unequivocally that the
state of this libe1 was directed to ITN as much as to Penny
Marshall and Ian Williams, but there it is; the defendanti
say to you - and they will no doubt address you on this - that
no reasonable person reading the press release, reading the

t2
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article, or reading the editorial would ever t.hink it could
have referred to ITN. I ask you to ask yourself: in that
case what. are those three paragraphs doing there? The
significance of that is that unlike their case in relation to
Penny Marshal-l- and Ian Williams t.hey do not suggest that it. is
true. They do not suggest if it does defame them that there
is any truth in it. They are not suggest.ing that ITN set. out
to produce a distorted image and distort.ed picture; they do
not suggest. that ITN had any part in t.he falsifi-cation or
fabrication of that image. A11 they say j-s that it does not
refer to ITN. However, in relation to Penny Marshall and Ian
Wil-Iiams, they say that the allegations made in the press
release, in the article and in the editorial are true. They
do not., however, accept that they bear the meanings which
I have put before you. They say they bear slightly different
meanings, and I am now going to read out to you what they say
those meanings are. They say t.hat they bore these meanings
the press release, just as much as the articles and the
accompanying editorial - that Penny Marshall and lan Williams
had compiled television footage which deliberately
misrepresented an emaciated Bosnian Muslim, Fikret. AIic (p.32)
as being caged behind a barbed wire fence at the Serbian
Trnopolje camp on 5th August L992 by the selective use of
video t.ape shots. They say that they f ailed to explai_n
publicly that the said shots with Fikret AIic standing outside
the barbed wire fence which surrounded the area from which the
cameraman was filming when the said and speedy image of Fikret
Alic was widely interpreted as evidence that the Bosnian Serbs
were running Nazi style concentration camps, and that they
ought, in those circumsLances, to have given such a public
explanat.ion but have discreditably failed to do so. You wil-1
note there that there is no allegation in relation to their
conduct or their reporting of Ormaska.

You will remember, members of the jury, that both the
article and the press release make great. play of the fact that
Trnopolje was a collect.ion camp for refugees and not a prj-son.
You can see that in t.ab 4 in the press release:

rr * there was no barbed wi-re fence surroundinq the
Trnopolje camp.

* the camp was a collection centre for refugees, not
a prison. tr

That is what they are saying - and that is echoed again and
again in that article, which is why I read those particular
passages to you - do you remember Lhe man from the Red Cross
from the camp. That is the Serbian Red Cross, not the
international Red Cross. Therefore, what they must be
suggesting, we say to you, is that Fikret AIic was not in
prison behind barbed wire and therefore, by plain implication,
he was not in prison at all. What they do say, therefore, is
this: it was in effect the journalists who were caged J-n.
What is more, not only were they caged in when they did the
filming, but they must have known t,hey were caged in because
if they did not know they were caged in they could not be

&co
rfRITaRs

l_3



1
2
3
4
5
e

7
8
9

10
11
a2
13
L4
15
15
L7
18
l_9
20
2L
22
23
24
25
26
27
2B
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
3B
:39
40
4L
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
5't

BBVERL T
OEEICIAL

guilty of any deliberate distortion. They were caged in and
they knew j-t. Therefore they had deliberately manufactured
(played with) the image - falsely created an image which
fooled the world. You will hear from every member of the Lwo
lTN teams who went out there. They were there; you will have
an opportunity to judge each of them, as to whether they are
tetling the truth. There is one thing that may have struck
you about the nature of this defence - that it could not have
been done alone. In order for the image to have been
fal-sified, dj-storted (whatever word you used) it would have
needed, because it also needed the editing process as weI1,
all those people who went there, working together. Indeed, it
would almost, one thinks, extend to the editors who were sent
out because it is an image which fooled the wor1d. It was an
image which was transmitted which has fooled people. You are
going to have a chance to see each and every one of those
people; hear what. it was like; what was their impressions of
the camp and whether they set out to deceive at all. You will
hear it is our case that Fikret Alic and those other people
you saw were indeed within the enclosure. There was an
enclosure which was almost entirely fenced in with barbed wire
or chicken wire. But most importantly of all they were not,
as far as anyone can see, free to go, free to 1eave. No-one
would choose to be in that condition - in the condit.ion you
saw. What j-s more, ds I have said already, you will note and
remember the presence of the Serbian armed guards patrolling.

The defendants also raise another defence. They say
t.he words of which Ian Will-iams and Penny Marshall complain
also contain a commenL about their conduct - and you can see
where the comment may be found, it is in that editorial,
namely that they ought, in the light of the misinterpretation
of the picture of Fikret A1ic, have given a public explanation
of how the shot.s were taken but have discrediLably failed to
do so. In other words they should have come clean about what
they had done and told the worId.

It is only right that I tel1 you this, members of the
jury: our 1aw recogni-ses the right in every citizen - it is
not just newspaper editors and journalists - t.o comment on
matters of public interest and to hold strong, even obstinate,
or prejudiced or highly charged views. What you will be asked
to decide is whether a reasonable person, however passionate,
obstinate, prejudiced could have held such a view, a view
expressed, perhaps, in that editorial in February L997 about
the conduct of Ian Williams and Penny Marshall in February
L992. But you should also know this: the right to make
comments about other people, abouL t.heir conduct, to express
your opinions about them, is not absolute. It has two
gualifications. Firstly, and you might think this is
reasonably sensible, whilst comment is free facts are sti1l
regarded as sacred. You will need to be satisfied that facts
existed in 1997 which could have supported t.he comments which
were being made about Penny Marshall and. Ian Wi1liams. Our
Iaw also requires that a defendant tells you what facts
existed at the time which are relied upon to support that
comment. You just cannot fire from the hip; you have to have
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some bases for making the comment and you have to identify t.he
facts t.hat support it. Now you will be interested to know
that in this case these defendants rely upon almost the sel-f-
same facts as they rely upon to say it is true. So, it may
wel-I be t.he question of comment does not arise, if you accept
from us that their facts do not go anywhere near supporting
t.he allegat.ions which they have made against t.hese two
journalists.

Secondly, and you might t.hink this is also quite a
sensible protecLion, the protect.ion afforded by the defence of
fair commenL - that is the right. for comment - is 1ost. You
lose it. if we, that is the claimant (the person bringing the
action) can establish that when this comment was published the
persons who made it (or who caused it to be published) were
act.uated by malice. Now, malice is a purist term but it has a
special and legal meaning in this context. What it means is
this: it. means if you publish something which you know to be
false or you are reckless as to its truth or falsity. Now,
despite t.he advance of modern technology we clearly cannot
look int.o people's heads and we cannot look into people's
heads in 1997, so what do we do? What we do is look at the
surrounding circumstances in order to try and work out what
was moLivating someone at a particular time. And your task
may be at. the end of this case to ask yourself : ttHow can
I judge what was the motive of the editor of LM magazine and
his felIow publishers in February a997 when they chose to
issue the press release or when they chose to publish the
article? "

Now, we say t.here are three pieces of evidence which
collect.ively might throw some light on this guestion.
Firstly, we say that. Mr. Hume, who was the editor of LM, was
content with adopting a hostj-Ie stance towards journalists in
t.he West and Western powers and felt for the pro-Bosnian
Muslims. Indeed, his aversion to those he thought were
hostile to the Serbian position even extended to attacking the
international tribunal which had been set up by the United
Nat.ions to charge and prosecute those accused of crimes
against humanity during that conflict. fn other words, this
was a golden opportunity for Mr. Hume to smear fTN and its
journalists, the kind of people he felt were adopting his Pro-
Bosnian Mus1im stance.

Now, what we arej going to put before you to support
that particular averment are some articles which Mr. Hume has
either written or allowed to be published in the newspaper.
Now, if you look at tab 7 you will see there an article which
is published - do not be taken in by the date at the top,
L3/6/97, you have to go to the very end to find the date.
This has come off a machine and it says 'rReproduced from
Living Marxism ,Ju1y t992ti. So you have to go back to see
where it camei from. This is an article published in LM
magazine which is headed:

'r 'Whj-te niggers' of t.he new world order
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1 "Eddie Veale on how and why America, Britain and
2 Germany have constructed the Serbian demon.'t
3
4 The thrust of this article is that there is a western bias
5 against Serbians. If you turn over t.he page you will see the
5 heading "WesLern bias". You will see there:
7
B I'Look beyond the borders of Bosnia and Croatia, and
9 the frantic concern to condemn Serbia seems even more

10 one-sided. While the Yugoslav conflicts has grabbed
11 all the headlines, the Armenians have been rampaging
L2 through Azerbaijan. Yet the Western governments and
13 experts who are so keen to lecture the Serbs about
i-4 vi-olence have seemed far less concerned about the
l-5 violent. clashes further east.rl
a6
17 Then we look to the next Page:
t8
19 rtNato rules

.20
:," 2! "The US administration had wanted no part of the

22 campaign against Serbia when the Germans were leading
23 the charge. Now, however, it has become a handy
24 excuse for Washington (and London) to play up the
25 importance of their military a]liance, NaLo, &s
26 against the emerging Euro-Army run from Bonn and
27 Paris. That is the main reason why Serbs have
28 suddenly appeared all over our newspapers depicted as
29 monkeys and mass murderers.'r
30
31- Then if you turn over the page you will find an article
32 written by Mr. Hume himself in .fune 1995. This article is
33 essentially an attack on the setting up of the war crimes
34 tribunal-. I am not going to read it all. It will probably be
35 read to you in the course of the trial but. I suspect you have
35 had enough of t.hings being read to you. So I will just read
37 parts.
38

:,::,,i39 "The war crimes tribunal for the former Yugoslavia is
' 40 set to try its first case, and the war crimes tribunal

4t for Rwanda is also warmingi up for action. The wheels
42 of world justice, w€ are told, are finally turning.
43 But t.he peoples of the world are far from egual before
44 this new system of globo-Iaw.
45
45 "The UN-sponsored tribunals are j-nstitutionalising a
47 double standard in international politics. They have
48 been set up on the implicit assumption that the white,
49 WesLern powers and their a1Iies do not commit war
50 crimes. fn their eyes it seems that war criminals are
5l- always Serbs Hutus, or Iraqis - in any case, wogs of
52 one sort [or] another.
53
54 "Dusan Tadic, A 39-year old Serb, has been extradited
55 from Germany to face trial before the war crimes
56 tribunal in The Hague. Tadic has been charged with 13
57 counts of murder, torture and rape of Muslim prisoners
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in Bosnia. When he appeared at the pretrial hearing
to plead not guilty in late April, it was proudly
announced as the first international- war crimes
hearing since the Nuremburg t.rials that. followed t.he
Second Wor1d War"

'rYet the crimes of which Tadic sLands accused are
hardly the first - and far from the worst - atrocities
that have been committed during the wars of the past
half-century. So why is the UN Security Council
suddenly sett.ing up war crimes trials for the first
time in 50 Years?rl

Then if we go over the page, not the next page or the next
page but the page which has as its first. paragraph rrand
Western governments'r. You will see in the second paragraph:

rrThe war crimes tribunals can ignore the fact.s behind
their chosen conflicts because their brief has nothing
to do with achieving justice. These are political
showtrials set up by the USA and its al1ies on the
United Nations Security Council to demonstrate the
divide between the moral nat.ions of the West and the
essentially immoral peoples of the rest of the word;
between the savages in the dock and civilised men who
sit in judg'ment on them.I'

Two paragraphs af t.er that:

"The war crimes trials give the politics of racial
inferiority a veneer of 1ega1ity. Their real
character as an exercise in demonstrating Western
authority and power is revealed, however, by the lack
of any basis in 1aw for these tribunals. The UN
Security Council is simply making up the 1aw on war
crimes as it goes a1ong, handing its appointees the
right. to interfere in the internal affairs of member
states and put their citizens on trial - a direct
infringement of the UN charter. This precedent can
only pave t.he way for further military interventions
around the world in the name of 1aw and order - like
the l-993 US 'posse' which blew apart Mogadishu in
search of the Somali 'warlord' General Aideed. "

Then finally, members of the jurlr and this was published in
,Ju1y L997, t.hat is very soon aft.er this article but we say you
can read this article and get a very good feel as to what
motivates Mr. Hume.

"Hel-en Searls cross-examines the Internal national
Tribunal's judgement against the Bosnian Serb
militiaman whom it found guilty of 'crimes against
humanitY' .

And she says it is:
nTime to put the War Crime Tribunal in the dock.'r
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MR. ,JUSTICE

MR. SHIELDS:

MR..]USTICE

MR. SHTELDS:

MORLAND: This is tab 9?

This is tab 9, I do apologise.

MORLAND: Perhaps you could start again with that.
Tab 9.

"Time to put the War Crimes Tribunal in the dock.
rrThe Internationat Tribunal- at The Hague decreed in
May that t.he Bosnian Serb Dusko Tadic was guilty of
war crimes and crimes against humanity in ihe former
Yugoslavia. Pending an appeal, the judges are
expected to sentence Tadic t.o life imprisonment later
on this year.

"React,ion to the verdict was mixed. Some, including
the t.rial judges, saw it as a good. day for human
rights. Others have been more criticil. on both
sides of the Atlantic many comprained the verdict was
'too IittIe t.oo late'. Within minutes of the verdict,
Bosnia correspondent turned Mp Martin Be11 comprained
that only seven of the 74 people wanted for ,war
crimes' in the former Yugoslavia are in cust.ody. He
urged West.ern Governments to do more to bring the war
criminals to justice."

ff you go over the page t.o the second paragraph:
,'Throughout t.he trial the presentat.ion made much of
the charges against radic. Less widely publicised was
the fact. that the judges decided there was evidence to
convict Tadic of only 11 of the total of 31 counts
against him. What j-s more, all of the more serious
specific charges of gang rape, sexual mutilation and
murder were thrown out. rn aIl he was found guilty of
beating 14 Muslim men and of a ,crime against
humanity' which is defined as ,persecution,. It is
wort.h examining these charges a 1itt1e more c1osely.

"Tadic was eonvicLed of involvement in violent
beatings, and the court heard harrowing testimonies
from men who suffered severe pain, fear and indignity.
But however brutal such talesl when compared wi-t[ trrlactions of the men who previously occupied the
defendant,s seaL in a war crimes tribunal, Tadic,s
actions seem mundane and insignificant. rn fact when
you consider the fact that the prijedor regi-on was inthe midst of a fears and bloody conflict, it is hardto believe that Tadic,s actions were in any way
exceptional. "

Ttren if you look over the page to p.4 - it has that in the topright hand corner - the third paragraph down:
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uwhi-ch brings us back to our question: why did the UN
Security Council choose this moment and this confli-ct,
after 50 years, to set up a war crj-mes tribunal? To
answer this it j-s necessary to look way beyond Bosnia.
The International Tribunal only makes sense if it seen
as a product of the WesL's search for a righteous role
in the post-Co1d War wor1d, rather than of any search
for truth and justice in Bosnia.

"If the Tribunal was simply concerned with justice
then the UN would surely have paid more attention to
its own 1ega1 procedures to ensure that justice was
done. For a start, somebody could have seriously
asked whether such an international tribunal has any
Iega1 basis on which to intervene around t.he war in
the former Yugoslavia. "

We will come back to that Iater, members of the jury, when
I cross-examine Mr. Hume. But I would like to think you have
a flavour of his contempt and his magazine's contempt for that
tribunal. We say that throws some 1ight. on why he chose this
occasion to attack the claimants.

I said there were three matters to be put before you
which might help you decide and come to a conclusion what the
motive was for publishing this. The second one is this: as
you wi-1l hear the defendants were in the process of
relaunching the magazine, and we say what better way to
attract publicity and to boost the magazine's fortunes than by
publishing what they obvi-ously regarded as a sensational
article. We know they regarded it as that. because they t.ook
the st.ep of issuing the press release before the art.icle came
out and sending it to numerous media organisations no doubt in
order t.o attract att.ention to it.

Thirdly, and you might think this is rea11y the most
significanL of the matters, Mr. Hume and his fel1ow publishers
could not t.ake what you might think is the obvious step of
finding out whether the allegations were true. Because if you
are going to accuse someone of distortion, deliberately
falsifying by camera angles and editing, would you not think
it was fair and just to put those allegations to the people
who you were making Ehem against before you went to print? It
is not as if he did not know the names of the people involved
because you get the names very clearly from the press release
and again from the article. There is reference to the
cameramen, there a reference to t.he claimants, Penny Marshall
and Ian Wi1liams. The ITN offices are in London. You might
ask yourself: why does someone not choose to put allegations,
very serious allegations, to someone before publishing them?
You might come up with the answer that the reason is that they
are not prepared to take the risk of finding out that they may
be untrue. Because if they are untrue, you do not. have an
article to publish, do you?

Members of the jury, at the end of this trial I am
going to j-nvite you by your verdict to vi-ndicate the

1-9



1
2
3
4
5
6
'7

B

9
l-o
l-1
1_2

13
1,4
15
15
a7
18
19
20
2L
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
35
37
3B

139
40
4L
42
43
44
45
46
47
4B
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57

BET/ERLBTTNUNNERY&CO
OFPICItrL SEORTEAITD I{RITERS

claimants. Our 1aw does not al1ow you
to publish an apology. A11 you can do

order the defendants
a libe1 action, in

an action brought to reclaim reputat.ion, is make an award of
damages. The award of damages is aimed to compensate the
damagre to reputation for the hurt to feelings - It. is not to
punish. The award should by its size reflect the injury which
they have suffered and reflects what you may think is the hurt
of having the allegaLions aired agai-n to the world in the
course of the next 10 or 15 days. And the size of the award
is your attempt to show the world that these allegations were
simply untrue. At the end of the trial I will invite you to
make an award to ITN, and you will bear in mind of course that
it is not suggested against ITN that t.his article and these
allegations are true, it is not part of their case, and I will
invite you to make an award to Penny Marshall and Ian
Wil1iams. First you are going to hear them and you are going
to see them cross-examined and you will see cross-examined all
t.he people who were involved in the production of those
broadeasts, and it is for you to judge them.

MR. JUSTfCE MORLAND: Thank you. Mr. Shields, would this be a
convenient moment for the jury to have the list of t.he names
and occupations of the various witnesses and the chronology
and the set up at, ITN?

MR" SHIELDS: Yes. Shall I tell- them what I am handing them?

MR. JUSTICE MORLAND: Yes.

1,2 .L5 p.m.

MR. SHIELDS: Members of the jury, it is has been suggest.ed by his
L,ordship that it would be hel-pfuI to you to have a list of the
people who worked for ITN who were involved in t.his with their
respective jobs, because you cannot be expected to remember
al-1 the names f have thrown at you. Plus those at Living
Marxism. A diagram which shows what the organisation was aL
ITN in July and August 1992, the hierarchy. So you can work
out who was were and who gave what instructions. Thirdly, a
chronology, a cl-aimants' chronology of the movement during
July and AugusE. L992 because I have thrown quite a 1ot of
dates at you, I have thrown guite a Iot of names at you, and
this way you will have your own guide. They have been
prepared and I can now hand them up.

MR. ,JUSTICE MORLAND: Mr. Mi1lar, these are agreed to be correct,,
are they?

MR. MILLAR: They are, my Lord, yes.

MR. ,JUSTICE MORLAND: Thank you. What was handed up to me,
Mr. ShieLds, is identical, is it, to what has been handed to
the jury subject to I think the chronology is now more
accurate

MR. SHIELDS: That is right, ry Lord.

t.o
in

20



1 MR. MILLAR: Has your Lordship got the latest chronology?
2
3 MR. JUSTICE MORLAND: I have got the latest chronologry.
4
5 MR. MILLAR: That is right. You should have everythi-ng. Do you
5 think it might be better at the front of the bundle?
7
B MR. JUSTICE MORLAND: I think it is a good idea. Mine are t.owards
9 the front of my bundle. If you look in the front of your

10 bundle they have got holes. It is entirely up to you whether
11 you at times want to take them out, but it is probably easier
1,2 to keep them in the front of your bundle. If a name is
13 mentioned you can look it up and say: "Who's that, and what
a4 is her or his job?'r
15
15 Mr. IAN KEITH WILL,IAMS, Sworn
t7 Examined bv Mr. SHIELDS
18
19 a Your fu1I name, please, Mr. Williams? A. Ian Keith
20 Williams.

l' 2!
22 O And your address? A. 581 Soy 33, Sukemvik Road, Bangkok,
23 Thailand.
24
25 a You are a journaList for ITN, is that right? A. That i-s
25 correcL.
27
28 a How o1d are you now? A. 41.
29
30 A And you were born on 12th Septedcer 1958? A. Yes.
31
32 O Where were you educated? A. I was educated at Cray Val1ey
33 School for Boys in Sidcup, Kent.
34
35 O And after thaL did you go to university? A. Yes, I did.
36
37 a Where did you go? A. To Keele University.
38

.,,..,39 0 What did you study at Keele University? A. I studied
' " 40 politics and economi-cs.

41,
42 0 After you graduated what, did you do to earn a living?
43 A. Immediately after I graduated I travelled for a year in
44 Asia and the Far East. I then worked for a series of
45 specialist magazines and also doing freelance work at that.
46 time for the BBC World Service and a number of publications
47 including the Guardian, the Economist and the Sunday Tines.
4B
49 O Had you done any journalism while you were at university?
50 A. Yes, I had worked on student, magazines, both in terms of
5l- articles and also book reviews, mainly on issues related to
52 Third Wor1d development and aid issues.
53
54 A Oid there come a time when you did some work for the BBC World
55 Service radio programmes? A. I did. I did a 1ot of work
55 for a number of World Service radio programmes including,
57 I think, Outlook and one or two others of that i1k.
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Were you mainly dealing with foreign affairs? A. ft was a
range of things. It was, I would say, predominantly foreign
affairs but also science and development related issues.

There came a time, f Lhink in 1985, when you were offered a
staff job on the Sunday Times, is t.haL right? A. That is
right. I had been working a Iot for the Sunday Times as a
freelance writ.er. In fact I was occupying for several months
a desk at the Sunday Times and I guess there came a time when
I was earning a 1ot as a freelance and it became cheaper to
employ me and put me on the staf f . At t.hat point. I was
offered a job in the business section of the Sunday Times,
subsequently becoming business correspondent, and I worked for
f our years f or t.he Sunday Timee.

I think t.hat was unt.il l-989? A. That is right.

Were you then sort of approached by Channel 4 News?
A. Yes. I was very familiar with Nj-cholas Owen, who was then
the business and economics correspondent. on Channel 4 News.
I had also met Richard Tait, then the editor of Channel 4
News', and they encouraged me to apply for a job that was
becoming vacant on that programme.

That is Richard Tait sitting there, is that right?
A. It is, yes.

So you joined Channel 4 News in 1989 and did you work on just
business stories Lhen? A. f began by working on business
st.ories but this was at a time when business reporting was
changing quite rapidly because of the single market and the
emergence of Europe as an important business story. So
although I started to do a 1ot of business-related reporting
I broadened the remit quite considerably to include stories in
Continental Europe, a 1ot out of Brussels, and the emergence
of the single market. At t.he same time I was determined to
broaden my own reporting and begin to do more foreign-based
and int.ernational reporti-ng.

Let us just focus on one or two things you may have done
then. Did you in L990/9a do anything to do with the lraqi
government, for example? A. I did. This was in the lead
up to the Gulf War when there was a great deal of speculation
over the origin of arms for Iraq and including a number of
scandals involving British companies who were exposed as being
suppliers, directly or indirectly, to Iraq. I had done a
certain amount of research on this. In the course of
researching it I had come across a related story about the
death of a British journalist in Santiago, Chile. What had
happened was there was a British specialist defence reporter
who had been found dead, an apparent suicide, in his hotel
room in Santiago. I had done a certain amount of
investigation because the company he was investigating was
implicated as an arms supplier or an intermediary for arms for
Iraq, and I visiced Chile twice in the course of those
investigaE.ions and we published two lengthy reports which
managed to establish that this was ext.remely suspect, that it
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was not a suicide and that people had very good reason to want
to see him dead. As a direct result of our investigations the
case was reopened and subsequently it was declared as a
murder, and I believe there was someone apprehended, perhaps
three or four years d9o, who they finally found to be guilty
of his murder.

So did you find yourself working more and more abroad as a
result of this? A. I did. I was doing more and more
foreign reporting. We conducted a number of investigations
into arms supplies for rraq which involved travellingi, as
I say, to Chile and also to Miami, through which arms had been
smuggled. We also established a link between Marconi, Lhe
British company, and the Chilean intermediary for the supply
of smart mine technolog-y to the Iraqis.

I am sorry to interrupt you, but did you then report on the
Kuwait war at all? A. I did. I began reporting about the
Kuwait war in New York, covering proceedings at the United
Nations as there were desperate attempts to try and avert the
war. Then after the bombing had begun I went to Saudi Arabia
and was one of the first journalists to travel into Kuwait two
or three days after the Iraqis had been evicEed from that
city. That reaIly gave me the first taste and the first
flavour of war reporting.

Were you then appointed in L9g2 the Moscow correspondent
for Channel 4 News? A. That is right.. I took up that.
appointment. I had spent some time in Moscow doing cover for
the then correspondence Gaby Rado and I took over from him in
April t992.

So you moved out to Moscow and you rented a flat in Southern
Moscow? A. That. is right. I rented a flat on Leninski
Prospek, whj-ch is one of t.he main thoroughfares to the south
of Moscow,

Did you succeed Gaby Rado as correspondent? A. r did.

Did you have a producer in Moscow who worked with you?
A. ?es. When t arrived in Moscow the producer was Andy
Braddel.

Just help us here. What is the role of producer? It is a
term we hear a 1ot but. what does he actually do? A. It is
a fairly wide-ranging role. The producer's job is very much
to help me in terms of the production of a television news
report. He will produce ideas, will contrribute towards ways
of treating a subject, working closely with me, in other
words, in terms of the filming of the ideas for and the
construction of a news feature once we have got the raw
material. He will also tend t,o work very closely with the
cameraman and with the editor both in terms of gathering
material when, perhaps, I am preoccupied doing something else
and also in terms of helping them in putting a news report
together. So he is kind of my right-hand man but also working
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very closely with the technical team, a cameraman and an
editor.

Did ITN, I think, have two teams out in Moscow? They had a
permanent team for Channel 3, ITV A. That is right
We had

and indeed for Channel 4? A. Yes, we had quite a big
bureau. It was a very Iively time in t.he Soviet Union. It
was a period when the whole place was falling apart and it was
in chaos. Gorbachev had resigned. Yeltzin had taken over.
The place was in turmoil. It was a great time to be there as
a journalist. simply because no doors were closed any more.
Your ability to go places, Lo meet people, to do stories was
very much a product of your own tenacity. There was a great
opport.unity to exercise pure journalism and to get original
st.ories because suddenly t.he place was opening up and it was
chaotic.

Is it right that you covered some of the conflicts which were
occurring on the fringes of Russia? A. That is right.
There was a widespread feeling at that time that the Sovj-et
Union was ripping itself apart. The new republics,
particularly in the southern part of the Soviet. Unj-on, it
seemed t.hat the first. thing one ethnic minority wanted to do
with their new freedom was to bash the one next door over the
head with pent-up anger, pent-up jealousies, pent-up hatreds
over the years,- that with the disintegration of t.he Soviet
Union the different. republics, the different groups in the
fringes of the Soviet Union, all these conflicts came to the
fore and it seemed myself and Andy and our camera team for
perhaps three or four months, ?L the beginning of my taking up
the appointment j-n Moscow, we seemed to do nothing but travel
to trouble spots around Sout.hern Russia, that is Southern
Soviet Union as it was - Moldava, Azerbaijan, Georgia,
Tajikstan - places where there were several conflicts.
At the time there was a great deal of att.ention being paid to
this and people wanted to hear about it because there was a
widespread view that the Soviet Union as it was was going to
completely tear itself apart in an orgy of violence. That did
not happen but that is how it was looking at the time and we
spent a 1ot of time down there jumping from one of these
conflicts to another one.

Now I want to t.ake you from Russia over to Yugoslavia, to the
events of .Tu1y and August 1992. Te1I us how you came to leave
your Moscow base and end up in Budapest in July a992?
A. WeI1, I had just returned from one of these trips to the
south. In fact my fiancee had just joined me, this is in late
,fu1y 1992, in Moscow. Believe it or not the weather can be
good in Moscow in the summer and we were planning to take a
vacation, and it was a day or two after she had joined me that
I received a telephone call from our then foreigrn editor in
London, Sue Inglish, and she informed me about a challenge
that Channel 4 in London had made to Radovan Karadzic and
to which he had said: rrsure. Come and investigate for
yourselves. 'r This was the challenge relating to the existence
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or not of alleged concentration camps in part.s of Bosnia and
Serbia. She asked me whether I could get. to Budapest as soon
as possible and we discussed t.he make up of a team that would
be suitable to go and investigate these allegations.

Did she give you details of the alleged atrocitj-es? Had she
briefed you? A. She did. She briefed me as to I was
broadly aware of t.he sort of rumours, the sort of allegat.ions
that. had been flying around. This was early days in the
Yugoslav conflict and words l-ike "ethnic cleansing" and
rumours of atrocities were really only beginning to emerge.
I had frankly been a litt1e sceptical about them because my
experience from the Sovi-et Union I know t.here are all kinds
of allegations and rumours that emerge in these sort of
conflicts. But Sue briefed me more ful1y about the nature
of the allegations in Bosnia, and 1 believe faxed me some
articles which had appeared in the British and American press.

1-2.33 p.m.

Yes, I will come to those in a minut.e. As far as you were
concerned, what. was your brief, if I can put it in that way?
A. My brief was to travel as speedily as I could to Budapest
on to Belgrade, to make contact with Or. Karadzic's people in
Belgrade with a view to going to establish the truth or the
falsity of the allegauions t.hat had been made.

If you had found the allegations to be false, would you have
reported that? A. We certainly would have done; that was
crucial to the brief that f was given, that we were to go and
report on t.hese allegations, we were to take up the challenge,
take up the offer that had been made by Karadzic and we were
to report whether they were true or whether they were fa1se.
There were so many allegations flying around at that time of
the most appalling inhumanity, that the most important thing
was to establish was it true or was it false; and either way
would provide us with our story.

Now, you flew out to Budapest the next d"y, is that right?
A. That's right.

I think we now know that to be the 30th, and I think there you
met Lhe other three members of your team. A. Yes.

Now let us just establish who they are. One was Andy Braddel.
Now, you have mentioned Andy Braddel already as your producer
in Moscow. Where was Andy Braddel at the time, do you know?
A. Andy was then on holiday and I believe he was passing back
through London, just prj-or Lo returning to Mosco.

And you are obviously used to working with him? A. Oh,
y€s, I mean, Andy and I worked very closely t.ogether in some
very dodgy circumstances in Russia. Also I figured that Andy
would be a good choice because his fluency in Russian would
help us because Russian tends to be the second language in the
former Yugoslavia, and we thought that in circumstances where
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we are trying to establish t.he truth or falsity it wourd bevery useful to have somebody who spoke a languige which theydid.

0 I t.hink the third person was James Nicholas. James NicholasI am right in saying is a cameraman and an editor?
A. That's rj-ght.. James is also one of the most experienced,
even one of the most experienced war cameramen, t.hat Channel
Four News had. r'd worked with James before, respected him
enormously and was very keen to have him with us on that. team.

o You met, ds we have heard, in Budapest. Did you colrect. any
eguipment there? A. yes, we - the

o one more person joined you. r am sorry, Mr. Hease, chrisHease. A. chris Hease is a sound recordist also fromLondon. rt wasn't. always the habit to work with a sound., recordist on ordinary sLories, but it was the policy of rrN towork with a ful1 team in war zones, anything which : goinginlo dangerous situations we would also alwiys work witr, ifuII team of four people.

And what equipment were you provided with? A. we had thestandard equipment, if you 1ike, for making the programme. we
had camera kit which would invol-ve cameras as well isbatteries, battery chargers, tripod, we also had other
equlpment that.. would have included flack jackets, hard
helmet.s - r would say altoget.her probably 150 or 200 kilos of
equipment.

a Now, when you were out in Budapest, were you faxed a copy ofthe Russian Bosnian Muslim list of alleged concentration
camps? A. I was.

O Hold on a minute; have you got. a bundle there?
yes.

A. I have,

a rret us just, take this in stages. r think we have all got
this, so we will just do'it together, this is the one which isat tab 1. rs that the list which was f axed t.o you? A. rtis, yes.

o And that is the list that which we see. rt says ',rist ofprisons/concentration camps controlled by the iggressor,'. so
we assume that was issued by the Bosnian t"luslimsi
A. That is right..

That was the list you received. you also told us that youreceived some copies of articres being written by Mr. Gutman
and Maggie O,Kane. fs that why you were in eudaiest?A. Yes. r believe those articles would have been faxed to
Itr€, to the best of my recollection, in Moscow but furtherarticles were faxed to me in Budapest.

sHrELDs: rf your Lordship is happy with this we have prepareda number of documents which r am going to j-ntroduce in- thecourse of Mr. williams' evidenee. My learned friend knows
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MR. .TUSTICE MORLAND:
Mr. Mi1lar?

Yes. That would be appropriate

about this. They have all been t.abed for index. If I hand
them in as of one now the jury can put. them in their bundle
rather than doing it at a sheet. at a time.

MR. MILLAR: No objection.

MR. SHIELDS: Then, memlcers of the jury, it. is tabs 10 to 18 and
hopefully they will fit into your bundle. (Handed) If you
turn to tab 10 you will find a prj-nt out of Mr. Gutman,s
article. Is that the one that you read? A. Yes.

O I think we can te1l from the first paragraph - I do not intend
to read it all:

"While the World's attention has been focused on the
siege at Sarajevo the Serbian conquesL of Muslim towns
and villages and the mass deportat.ions of Muslims and
Croats proceeded at in Northern Bosnia,
Herzegovinia. Newspaper reporter Roy Gut.man and' freelance photographer Andrew Caese visited the area
last week, the first western journalists there since
the war began. This is the first of several reports
of the systematic efforts by the Serbs and Serblan
army to el-iminate any trace of other ethnic groups. ,'

f think if one looks at that there is the capit.al Manjaka(?)
is that rightZ A. Yes.

a Do you get Lhat. from t.he third paragraph down and again in the
fourth paragraph? That was an article you read?
A. Yes.

0 Dealing with his visits to that camp? A. Yes.

Then if we turn to tab J-1, and this i-s an article written by
someone in bold tlpe at the Guardian, Maggie O'Kaye. Is that
right.? A. That is right.

O That is dated Wednesday, ,Ju1y 29th. That was the day before
you left? A. Yes.

a And that is "Muslims' nightmare under the long hot yugoslav
sun. rr I think that is describing a report from her from areas
of Bosnia held by Serbs? A. Yes.

O IE goes over the page. I think we get a flavour of where she
is if one looks in the third column on the second page. It
refers to Banaluka. Do you see that in the fourth paragraph
down on the second page, "A city waiting to be purged. "

MR. ,}USTfCE MORLAND: Towards the bottom of the page, third
column.
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1 MR. SHIELDS: Yes, and again in the fourth column of the second
2 page: "Some of Banaluka's Musl-im Croatians.. . " Does that
3 ring a be1l with you? A. Yes.
4
5 Q It does. I am trying not to read it to save time. You read
6 those articles at the time? A. I did.
7
B Q You left Budapest., we all know, and you travelled to Belgrade
9 by train. You were travelling on the overnight traj-n arriving

10 on the 31st..Tu1y. I t.hink that is right. That is a Friday.
l-1 It. was t.here on the next day when you meet Penny Marshall and
L2 the rest of Channel Three news team? A. That is correct.
l-3
L4 O To get that. right, w€ now have a cast list. We know that she
15 was with 'Jeremy Irving, her cameraman? A. Yes.
15
l7 O And Michael Lawrence (known as Micky) who was her sound
l-8 recordj-sE? A. That. is right.
1_9

I 20 O Had you worked with either of those before? A. f had
:-' 27 worked with Micky before, I believe, in covering a conflict in

22 Georgia in the former Soviet Union.
23
24 O Whereas you had an editor, and that was presumably James
25 Nicholas who was a cameraman and editor? A. Yes.
26
27 0 They did not have t.heir own editor with them? A" That is
28 right.
29
30 O When you were there did you employ what is called 'tthe 1oca1
31 fixer"? A. That is right. This is fairly common when
32 you are working in a city or somewhere overseas. You normally
33 have loca1 people who you can call upon to help you. They
34 will usually be journalists or people who are very well
35 connected who will arrange things for you and act as
36 interpreLers 1oca1Iy
37
38 O Did you have one or two of t.hose? A. We had two i-n that

',,,',139 we had a lady caIIed Mira who was extremely well connected in
" 40 Belgrade, a broadcaster herself, who had very good connections

4! in the Serbian regime Belgrade, knew Karadzic's people, and
42 she, though, was unable t.o leave Belgrade so she al-so provided
43 a colleagrre of hers ca1Ied Nina who subsequently travelled
44 wiEh us into Bosnia.
45
46 O When you were in Betr-grade did you seek to cont.act.
47 representatives of Dr. Karadzic? A. We did. That was
48 one of the first. things that we did. It, was important for us
49 to establish contact with his local representatlves in
50 Belgrade who we hoped would have been made aware of the
51 challenge that he had made in London and would therefore be
52 able to make the necessary arrangements for us to visit the
53 suspected camps.
54
55 O Did you meet any of his staff at all face to face?
55 A. Yes, I did.
57
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Where was that? A. fn the hotel, I believe. It was the
Hyatt Hotel in Belgrade on a number of occasions his
representatives would come by or we would talk to them by
telephone.

Did you make clear to them what you wanLed? A. We made
it very cl-ear that our purpose was to take up the challenge
which had been accepted by Karadzic that. he had promised to
give access to areas and camps which were suspected to be
6oncentration camps and that our purpose i-n being there was to
investigate those rePorts.

What were the reactions of his representatives?
A. Mixed. Evasive. It was "Well-, we'l1 can see what we can
do. " Very cagey. They clearly were somewhat reluctant to put
into practice the promise that had been made by Dr. Karadzic
in London.

While you were in Belgrade did you speak to any other agencies
or bodies who might be able to help you and give you
informati-on generallY? A. I did. I immediately began
contacting a whole range of organisations within the UN, the
Red Cross, in order to t.ry and establish what they knew and
what they had heard about what might or might not be going on
in Bosnia. Now, these people at the time - some had had
limited access to some of the areas that we were hoping to go
to and I went about talking Lo some on the telephone, most
visiting in person, conducting what we would call "background
discussionsrt, by which I mean we didn't take the camera along
to film interviews with t.hem because I wanted them to be as
frank as possible about what they knew or what they had heard,
because at this time a 1ot of this was only rumour. I wanted
to know wheLher, through their own contacLs, through their own
Sources, they heard about the very, very serious allegations
that were emerging particularly within north-west Bosnia.

Did you make any notes of these conversations?
A. r did.

I think if we look now in the new tab 12, You see in your
writing it says, rBudapest, Hilton". Is that right?
A. Yes.

o

o

That is the first entry? A. Yes.

What fo11ows, looking through, are your manuscript notes you
made while you were on this part.icular task? A. That is
right.

They go all the way through. Everyone will be relieved to
hear, Lf they turn to tab 1-3, you will find a typed up
transcribed version of those notes. What I intend to do is
keep to the typed up version j-f everyone is happy with that-
Now, it is very near the adjournment but I intend to take you
to one or Lwo of these now. Looking at the first page, it
Says, rrsee C Three semi tomorrow. . . . rr Would that be Channel
Three?
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So you know they were coming out? A. Yes.

a we see .r'Misha, Belgrade'r - is that Misha the fixer will havejust heard about? A. Misha is the channer Three fixer.
O Then we see the name "John Kennedy'r - r'faxed a list of requestfor contact't. who was .John Kennedy? A. .fohn rennedy, tothe best. of my recollection was a failed Conservative lutp ;/ho

had taken on the role of a kind of rovingi PR man for t.he Serbsin London, and he was doing his best in London to count.er someof the allegations that were emerging. He was a lobbyist - a
Parriamentary lobbyist cum pR man who was doing his best tobolster the image of the Serbs in the UK.

12.50 p.m.

a But was his role to arrange interviews for you? A. No,but he was working very crosery with Karadzic. As far asI can recaIl, he had been with Karadzic or around Karadzic atthe time of the challenge being taken up.

o rhat is what r was asking aboutr |ou faxed him a list of
requests for contact? A. Yes, he was very much kind ofthe Serb man in London and was considered to have good linkswith Karadzic and the Serbs.

MR. SHIELDS: Would that be a convenient moment, my Lord?

MR. JUsrrcE MORT,AND: Certainly. Members of the jury, we wirr
resume at five at two.

(Adiourned for a short. time)
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